Case No. S262032

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

Gregory Geiser,

Plaintiff, Appellant, and Cross-Respondent,
v.

PETER KUHNS, et al.

Defendants, Respondents, and Cross-Appellants.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FIVE, CASE NO. B279738
SUPERIOR COURT OF COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES
CASE NOS. BS161018, BS161019 & BS161020
THE HONORABLE JUDGE ARMEN TAMZARIAN

Petitioners' Opening Brief on the Merits

Matthew Strugar
State Bar No. 232951
Law Office of Matthew Strugar
Suite 2910
Los Angeles, CA 90010
(323) 696-2299
Matthew Strugar
Colleen Flynn
State Bar No. 234281
Law Office of Colleen Flynn
3435 Wilshire Blvd.
Suite 2910

Issue Presented

How should it be determined what public issue or issue of public interest is implicated by speech within the meaning of the anti-SLAPP statute (Code of Civ. Proc., § 425.16, subd. (e)(4)) and the first step of the two-part test articulated in *FilmOn.com Inc.* v. *DoubleVerify Inc.* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 133, 149–150 (*FilmOn*), and should deference be granted to a defendant's framing of the public interest issue at this step?

Introduction and Summary of Argument

The Court of Appeal ruled that the anti-SLAPP statute offered no protection to a group of displaced homeowners and housing rights advocates who led a public sidewalk picket protesting a real estate developer's business practices. To reach this conclusion, the court ignored the public interest in the speech at issue, treating the protest as a private dispute with little political significance. That decision threatens all people seeking to exercise their rights as protestors, and it flattens the analysis that the *FilmOn* decision last year set out for interpreting the anti-SLAPP statute's reference to "a public issue or an issue of public interest."

The facts here are largely undisputed. When Pablo and Mercedes Caamal lost the house they shared with their three children to foreclosure during the financial crisis, they didn't just seek to negotiate with the bank or the foreclosure purchaser. They chose to organize in a public way. They turned to the Alliance of Californians for Community Empowerment Action (ACCE)—one of the state's largest housing rights organizations—for help. Together with ACCE's Los Angeles director Peter Kuhns, they organized the community to denounce Wedgewood, the corporate buyer, and help the Caamals repurchase the

property. They held protests and publicized their story to the media.

And news media spread reports about the family's fight against Wedgewood to readers throughout the Southland. That coverage drew connections between the family's story and the larger narrative of the thousands of families who lost their homes to companies unwilling to negotiate.

After Wedgewood evicted the family, Kuhns, the Caamals, and a group of supporters held a public sidewalk demonstration outside Wedgewood CEO Greg Geiser's home. About 25 to 30 people attended. Police monitored the protest and gave no instructions or warnings to the demonstrators.

Geiser sued Kuhns for his decision to organize and participate in the public sidewalk demonstration. He also sued the Caamals. And his company placed a hit piece in Breitbart News and issued a press release about the dispute.

Recognizing the public reaction to the protest, Geiser also sought to prohibit future protest by moving to enact an ordinance that would criminalize similar protests in the future.

The Caamals used every tool available to people of limited means to participate in the public discussion around foreclosure and displacement and highlight their role in that narrative. They gathered supporters and held a vigil on their own front lawn and they protested on public sidewalks. They enlisted a state-wide advocacy organization. They sought and received media attention.

And all signs point to the protest implicating an issue of public interest: an ongoing campaign with ACCE; dozens of participants at a public sidewalk demonstration; repeat media coverage; attempts to change local law; and the plaintiff's own company placing articles and issuing press releases. Still, the majority of the Court of Appeal determined it was not enough for the anti-SLAPP statute to apply.

The Legislature enacted the anti-SLAPP statute to prevent and deter "lawsuits brought primarily to chill the valid exercise of the constitutional rights of freedom of speech and petition for the redress of grievances." (Soukup v. Law Offices of Herbert *Hafif* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 260, 278.) "In the paradigmatic SLAPP suit, a well-funded developer limits free expression by imposing litigation costs on citizens who protest, write letters, and distribute flyers in opposition to a local project." (FilmOn, supra, 7 Cal.5th at p. 143, citing Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 1296 (1997–1998 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 23, 1997, pp. 2–3; Barker, Common-Law and Statutory Solutions to the Problems of SLAPPs (1993) 26 Loyola L.A. L.Rev. 395, 396). The Legislature sought to interrupt the disturbing rise in wealthy, powerful, and politically well-connected plaintiffs filing such suits to shut down dissent by less powerful and less wealthy citizens or public interest groups by burying them in legal fees.

But because much human activity is carried out by speech, this Court began to recognize important limitations on the statute's application to prevent it from swallowing wide swaths of civil actions. Primary among those limitations is the requirement that the speech must "underlie or form the basis for the claim" for the statute to apply, not simply be "evidence of liability or a step leading to some different act for which liability is asserted." (Park v. Bd. of Trs. of Cal. State Univ. (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1057, 1060, 1062 (*Park*).) And even when speech forms the basis for a claim, speech is not "in furtherance of" or "in connection with" a public issue under subsection (e)(4)'s catchall provision unless contextual cues—including the identity of the speaker, the audience, and the purpose of the speech—show the speaker "participated in, or furthered, the discourse that makes an issue one of public interest." (FilmOn, supra, 7 Cal.5th at p. 151.) Without such limitations, the statute threatened to be "fatal for most harassment, discrimination, and retaliation actions against

public employers," among other types of claims. (*Park*, *supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1067 [quoting *Nam v. Regents of University of California* (2016) 1 Cal.App.5th 1176, 1179].)

But some courts, including the majority of the Court of Appeal below, have overcorrected, interpreting the statute so narrowly that it denies protection to even the paradigmatic SLAPP suit. This case presents the opportunity for this Court to explain how an overly narrow statutory construction threatens to deprive even textbook SLAPP suits from the law's protection.

A simple and effective way to protect the statute against such narrow constructions is to begin with appropriate deference to the defendant's identification of the public issue or issue of public interest. Starting with deference makes sense because the defendant is in the best position to identify the issue his speech implicated. Deference would also advance the anti-SLAPP statute's policy goals and is implicit in this Court's recent anti-SLAPP decisions. And deference in initially identifying the public interest allows courts to perform the fulsome contextual analysis required by the second part of FilmOn's test.

The majority opinion threatens public protest, undermines FilmOn's framework, and cripples the anti-SLAPP statute. By accepting the plaintiff's framing of the issue as a purely personal dispute between two former homeowners and the new purchaser, the Court of Appeal ignored that one of the state's largest housing rights organizations participated at every stage of this dispute, that its organizer ended up a defendant in these lawsuits, that dozens of participants joined the public protest, and that the media reported all of it along the way. As the dissenting opinion below found, the "upshot of the majority's [opinion] . . . is that . . . the venerable American tradition of peaceful public protest . . . is left diminished by a well-funded litigation scheme seeking to suppress it." (Dis. Opn. at p. 12.)

Properly applied, *FilmOn*'s framework—including consideration of the speakers' identity, audience, and purpose—reveals a public issue here. This Court should reverse.

Standard of Review

This Court reviews de novo the grant or denial of an anti-SLAPP motion. (*Park*, *supra*, 2 Cal.5th 1057, 1067.)

Statement of the Case

I. When a Family Falls Behind on Their Mortgage, Wedgewood Purchases the Home at a Foreclosure Auction and Evicts the Family (October 2015)

Mercedes and Pablo Caamal bought their Rialto home for \$450,000 during the height of the national real estate bubble. (1 JA 96, 263, 281.¹) Like many working-class home buyers at the time, they obtained their mortgages from big banks with no cash down. (1 JA 262–290.) They lived there with their family for about a decade. (1 JA 96.)

When the financial crisis hit, Mercedes and Pablo Caamal both lost their jobs, fell behind on their payments, and defaulted. (1 JA 292–299.) An affiliate of Wedgewood, LLC, the nation's largest fix-and-flip company, bought the home at a foreclosure auction for \$284,000 and moved to evict the family. (1 JA 96; 2 JA 326–328.)

¹ Because this is a consolidated appeal from orders in three cases, most material in the record appears in identical or substantially similar form three separate times. For simplicity, this brief only cites the first instance of each document.

II. The Family and Supporters Stage a Sit-in at Wedgewood's Office and the Eviction Is Halted (December 17, 2015)

Once Mercedes and Pablo Caamal regained employment, they tried to reach out to Wedgewood in an effort to keep their home. (1 JA 96–98.) Wedgewood ignored them. (*Ibid.*) The Caamals turned to ACCE on account of its mission to save homes from foreclosures and fight against displacement of long-term residents. (1 JA 111.)

Having received only silence from Wedgewood and with a scheduled eviction pending, the Caamals—together with ACCE's Los Angeles Director Peter Kuhns and a group of other ACCE supporters who faced similar issues with displacement—staged a sit-in at Wedgewood's office building. (1 JA 96, 108, 111.) They sought a meeting with Wedgewood CEO Gregory Geiser to determine why Wedgewood refused to negotiate with the family. (*Ibid.*)

Geiser was out of the office. (2 JA 321.)

Wedgewood called the police. (1 JA 29, 111.) They responded, but no one was cited or arrested for anything. (1 JA 111.)

Wedgewood's Chief Operating Officer for Flip Operations Darin Puhl agreed to meet with the Caamals. (1 JA 96.) The other protesters left. (1 JA 111.) Together the Caamals and Puhl reached an agreement to halt the impending eviction. (1 JA 96.)

The next week, Mercedes Caamal wrote Geiser to thank him and his company for working with the family, halting the eviction, and its willingness to work with the family to negotiate a repurchase. (1 JA 96, 103.)

III. The Media Picks up the Story (December 17, 2015)

The media took note. La Opinión—the second largest newspaper in Los Angeles—ran a story about the Caamals' desperate attempt to remain in their home. (See Familia logra parar el desalojo y tiene oportunidad de recuperar su hogar, La Opinión (Dec. 17, 2015) https://bit.ly/2YyMZ6z> [as of Oct. 20, 2020], cited at 1 JA 75; Petitioners' Motion to Take Judicial Notice (MJN), Ex. 1.) The article weaved the family's story into the larger narrative of the thousands of families who lost their homes to companies unwilling to negotiate and the displacement of long-term residents that is inherently part of residential flipping. (Ibid.)

IV. The Family and Wedgewood Settle the Unlawful Detainer Actions and Wedgewood Gives the Family Sixty Days to Obtain Financing to Keep the Home (January 2016)

When the Caamals appeared to contest Wedgewood's motions for summary judgment in the unlawful detainer proceedings, the presiding judge ordered the parties to discuss settlement and return in the afternoon. (1 JA 96–97; 5 JA 1233.)

They reached an agreement. The Caamals agreed to vacate the home after 60 days if they could not repurchase it in that time. (5 JA 1223.) In exchange, Wedgewood agreed to negotiate with the family over the next sixty days to facilitate the family's re-purchase effort. (*Ibid.*)

V. The Family Scrambles to Obtain Financing but Is Ignored by Wedgewood (January – March 2016)

The Caamals spent much of January and February of 2016 trying to obtain financing. (1 JA 98.) The foreclosure on their

record made it difficult. The family was unable to secure financing for the \$375,000 Wedgewood sought for the house, but they did pre-qualify for a loan above the \$284,000 that Wedgewood paid for the home months earlier. (1 JA 97, 105–106.)

Near the end of February, Mercedes Caamal called Wedgewood seeking to engage in the negotiations that Wedgewood agreed to engage in as part of the settlement agreement. (1 JA 97.) No one returned her call. (*Ibid.*) One week before the sixty-day period was set to run, the family sent Wedgewood the pre-qualification letter and begged the company for a response. (1 JA 97, 105–106.)

The family's counsel in the unlawful detainer cases also sent the pre-qualification letter to Wedgewood's counsel two days later. (1 JA 97–98; 5 JA 1241, 1246–1248.) The attorney explained to Wedgewood's counsel that the family had pre-qualified for a higher loan amount than the amount stated in the pre-qualification letter and that the family was willing to negotiate with Wedgewood over the purchase price. (5 JA 1246.)

Wedgewood simply ran out the clock, ignoring the family and their counsel and letting the move-out date pass without responding or engaging in negotiations in any way. (1 JA 98.)

VI. The Family and Supporters Return to Wedgewood's Office (March 23, 2016)

With Wedgewood seeking to have the County Sheriffs evict them, the family—along with Kuhns and other supporters—returned to Wedgewood's office seeking a response to their repeated entreaties. (1 JA 98, 111.) Wedgewood COO Puhl again agreed to meet with the family and review their loan documents if the family's supporters agreed to disperse. (1 JA 111.) They did. (*Ibid.*) Wedgewood again called the police but again no one was cited or arrested for anything. (1 JA 30, 111.)

Mercedes Caamal later heard from her lender that Wedgewood had called and spoken with the lender, but the family heard nothing more from Wedgewood. (1 JA 98.)

VII. The Media Interest Intensifies (March 24–29, 2016)

La Opinión ran another piece about the dispute the next day. (See Martínez Ortega, *De aquí no me sacan más que arrestado' advierte dueño de casa al borde del desalojo*, La Opinión (Mar. 24, 2016) https://bit.ly/3c6weDJ> [as of Oct. 20, 2020], cited at 3 JA 731; MJN Ex. 2.) That article described how the public mobilized support for the family by camping out in the front yard to stave off the eviction and again framed the family's story within the broader narrative: families suffering personal and national hardship losing their homes to predatory house-purchasing corporations. (*Ibid.*)

The online news source Huffington Post also ran an article about the family's fight. (See Dreier, *A Working Class Family Battles a 'Fix and Flip' Real Estate Tycoon*, Huffington Post (Mar. 28, 2016) https://bit.ly/2xyZt2Q [as of Oct. 20, 2020], cited at 1 JA 75; MJN Ex. 3.) It too situated the family's fight within the broader context of the housing market meltdown, noting the family's condition "is an experience that millions of Americans have faced." (*Ibid.*) And it discussed how homeowners facing foreclosure are working with community organizers to advance a "movement against predatory banks and investment firms," pursuing a range of political strategies that have been "successful not only in getting banks to halt foreclosures but also at pressuring lenders to renegotiate mortgages." (*Ibid.*) The article detailed "an around-the-clock vigil to demand that the eviction be stopped," attended by several community members. (*Ibid.*)



Facing eviction by Wedgewood Inc, Pablo Caamal and his family have launched a vigil in front of their Rialto, CA home, supported by friends and neighbors (Photo by *La Opinion*).

A still from the Huffington Post article.

VIII. When Sheriffs Lock the Family Out of Their Home, the Family and ACCE Demonstrate Outside Geiser's Home (March 30, 2016)

The San Bernardino Sheriff's Department evicted the Caamals and locked them out of the house on March 30, 2016. (1 JA 98.)

Kuhns and ACCE, together with the Caamals, organized an emergency public demonstration for that evening on the public sidewalk outside Geiser's Manhattan Beach home. (1 JA 98, 108, 112.) Between 25 and 30 people showed up on short notice to denounce Geiser and his company. (1 JA 114.) The local chapter of the National Lawyers Guild dispatched an attorney to act as a legal observer at the demonstration. (*Ibid.*)

The demonstrators held signs, sang songs, chanted, and gave short speeches in protest of Wedgewood. (1 JA 98, 108, 112.)

Several Manhattan Beach police officers arrived within a few minutes of it starting. (1 JA 114.) The legal observer spoke

with the commanding officer and the police allowed the demonstration to continue without so much as a warning or even an instruction to the demonstrators. (1 JA 98, 108, 112, 114.) The officers remained throughout the demonstration. (1 JA 114.)

At about 10:00 p.m., Pablo Caamal thanked everyone and declared the demonstration was over. (*Ibid.*) The legal observer stayed until the last demonstrator left around 10:20 p.m.² (*Ibid.*)

IX. Geiser and Wedgewood File Four Lawsuits Against the Family and Supporters (April 1, 2016)

Two days after the eviction and demonstration, Geiser filed four separate lawsuits. Three cases sought civil harassment restraining orders against Pablo Caamal, Mercedes Caamal, and ACCE organizer Peter Kuhns. (1 JA 22–63.) In the fourth, Geiser, joined by Wedgewood, sued the Caamals, Kuhns, and ACCE, in an unlimited civil damages case. (1 JA 87–94.) In that case, Wedgewood brought a single claim for trespass related to demonstrations at the Wedgewood office. (1 JA 91–92.) Geiser asserted two claims—"violation of Los Angeles County Code section 13.43.010" and intentional infliction of emotional distress. (1 JA 92–93.)

X. The Media Interest Continues to Grow (May 2016)

The lawsuit fueled the media's interest in the story. The conservative Breitbart News ran a story about the foreclosure, the demonstration, and the lawsuit, focusing on ACCE's role and drawing alleged connections between the dispute and various

² Both Geiser and the Court of Appeal majority describe the protest as ending "[s]ometime before midnight," which, while technically true, is a misleading way to describe 10:00 p.m. or 10:20 p.m. (1 JA 28; Opn. at p. 5.)

boogeymen in the rightwing imagination (and issues of public interest), including Hillary Clinton, voter fraud, embezzlement, tax increases, "the early release of criminals," and "corporations, foundations, millionaires and hedge-fund managers." (See Barajas, ACORN Reborn: Alliance of Californians for Community Empowerment, Breitbart News (May 21, 2016)

https://bit.ly/3b5n1tK> [as of Oct. 20, 2020], cited at 3 JA 732 (Breitbart Article); MJN Ex. 4..)

The byline failed to mention that the Breitbart Article's author—who had never written an article for the outlet before and has not since—is a Wedgewood public-relations spokesperson. (See Victoria, *Rialto family fights eviction; says realtor's actions unjust*, Rialto Record Weekly (May 12, 2016) https://bit.ly/2YAKssE> [as of Oct. 20, 2020] (Victoria), cited at 3 JA 731, quoting Breitbart Article's author Hector Barajas on dispute with the Caamals and describing him as a "Wedgewood spokesperson"; MJN Ex. 5.)

The regional newspaper conglomerate Inland Empire Community News also picked up the story. (See Victoria, *supra*.)

XI. When Kuhns and the Caamals File Anti-SLAPP Motions, Geiser Dismisses His Suits and Issues a Press Release (May – August 2016)

Kuhns and the Caamals filed anti-SLAPP motions. (1 JA 64–225.) In the anti-SLAPPs to the civil harassment petitions, they argued that Geiser's petitions appeared to hinge on a contention that a Los Angeles County Code provision that restricts residential protests in the unincorporated areas of the county also applied to the incorporated city of Manhattan Beach. (1 JA 76–81, 130–133, 184–189.) Kuhns and the Caamals contended that incorporated cities like Manhattan Beach make their own municipal public welfare laws and restricting

residential picketing in Manhattan Beach was a matter for the Manhatan Beach City Council, not the courts. (1 JA 79-80.)

The parties tried to settle the lawsuits while the anti-SLAPP motions were pending, but negotiations broke down after Geiser insisted on both a nondisparagement clause that sought to insulate Wedgewood from any future criticism by ACCE and a waiver of any future First Amendment defenses by Kuhns or the Caamals. (4 JA 1190.)

After walking away from the settlement, Geiser dismissed each of his lawsuits. (3 JA 711–718.)

Before serving the requests for dismissal, Wedgewood issued a press release detailing its version of the settlement negotiations and their eventual demise. (5 JA 1348; Moody, *Media Statement In Response to ACCE*, Wedgewood, Inc. (Aug. 16, 2017) https://bit.ly/2SFbwTs> [as of Oct. 20, 2020].) The press release *admitted* Wedgewood refused to settle because ACCE would not agree to abstain from criticizing Wedgewood in the future. (5 JA 1348.) It decried ACCE's "portray[al of] the Caamal family as victims, while exploiting a very emotional issue without any serious attempt . . . to resolve the situation." (*Ibid.*) And it acknowledged the public's interest, further editorializing that for ACCE, "making headlines and political gain[] far outweighs helping the Caamals return to their home." (*Ibid.*)

XII. Geiser Appeals to His City Council for a Prohibition on Residential Picketing, Generating Even More Media Interest (July – August 2016)

Geiser finally sought his remedy with his local legislature, just as Kuhns and the Caamals had urged from the start of the litigation. Geiser backed proposed legislation that would have made it a misdemeanor to protest within 150 feet of a targeted residence in Manhattan Beach. (4 JA 1021, 1026, 1030.) The law

was first proposed as part of a consent calendar by a friend of Geiser's on the City Council. (4 JA 1021, 1045.) Another councilmember objected to it being slipped into the consent calendar. (4 JA 1045–1047.) The Council then discussed the ordinance over three separate meetings. (See 4 JA 1054–1173.)

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