#### S262032

# In the Supreme Court of the State of California ————

#### GREGORY GEISER,

Plaintiff/Petitioner, Appellant, and Cross-Respondent, and Respondent,

v.

### PETER KUHNS, PABLO CAAMAL, MERCEDES CAAMAL,

Defendants/Respondents, Respondents, and Cross-Appellants, and Petitioners.

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FIVE, CASE NO. B279738 SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY, NOS. BS161018, BS161019& BS161020

### GREGORY GEISER'S ANSWER BRIEF

\*Frank Sandelmann, Esq. (186415)
Joshua A. Valene, Esq. (292109)
Dinsmore & Sandelmann, LLP
Attorneys for Plaintiff/Petitioner,
Appellant, Cross-Respondent,

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

### V. ARGUMENT

# A. In *FilmOn*, This Court Announced That Two Inquiries Should Be Conducted To Determine Whether Conduct Or Speech Merited Anti-SLAPP Protection.

FilmOn involved a lawsuit by FilmOn, an online video distribution service, against DoubleVerify, an online advertising service, for disparaging FilmOn in confidential reports to DoubleVerify's clients. (FilmOn, supra, 7 Cal.5th at 140.) The trial court granted DoubleVerify's Anti-SLAPP Motion on the ground that the reports were covered under the statute. (Id. at 142.) The Court of Appeal affirmed, analogizing DoubleVerify's confidential reports to the ratings given by the Motion Picture Association of America ("MPAA") by noting that both DoubleVerify and the MPAA rate movies

"concerning their level of adult conduct [...] because the public cares about the issue." (*Id*.)

This Court then granted review of *FilmOn*, to decide whether the commercial nature of a defendant's speech is relevant in determining whether that speech merits protection under the catchall provision of the Anti-SLAPP statute. (*Id.* at 140.) More specifically, this Court "granted review to decide if and how the context of a statement— including the identity of the speaker, the audience, and the purpose of the speech—informs a court's determination of whether the statement was made "in furtherance of" free speech "in connection with" a public issue." (*Id.* at 142-143..) This Court then reversed the *FilmOn* Court of Appeal's decision, holding that the defendant's reports at issue were "too tenuously tethered to the issues of public interest they implicate, and too remotely connected to the public conversation about those issues, to merit protection under the catchall provision." (*Id.* at 140.)

In its *FilmOn* opinion, this Court established a two-part analysis for determining whether a defendant's conduct merits Anti-SLAPP protection:

1) Identifying what "public issue or issue of public interest," if any, the speech at issue implicates (i.e., a question answered by looking at the *content* of the speech); and 2) Examining what functional relationship exists between the speech and the public conversation about some matter of public interest (i.e., the *context* of the speech). (*Id.* at 149-150.) The Court then held that as to the second part, the Anti-SLAPP statute requires that there be "some degree of closeness between the challenged speech and the asserted public interest." (*Id.* at 150, citing *Weinberg*, *supra*, 110 Cal.App.4th at 1132.)

In articulating what constitutes a matter of public interest in the Anti-SLAPP context, courts look to certain specific considerations, such as whether the subject of the speech or activity "was a person or entity in the public eye" or "could affect large numbers of people beyond the direct participants"; and whether the activity "occur[red] in the context of an ongoing controversy, dispute or discussion", or "affect[ed] a community ... in a manner similar to that of a governmental entity." (*Id.* at 145.)

This Court advised that it "[is] not concerned with the social utility of the speech at issue, or the degree to which it propelled the conversation in any particular direction; rather, we examine whether a defendant — through public or private speech or conduct — participated in, or furthered, the discourse that makes an issue one of public interest." (*Id.* at 151.) This Court further reaffirmed that "Defendants cannot merely offer a 'synecdoche theory' of public interest, defining their narrow dispute by its slight reference to the broader public issue." (*Id.*, citing *Commonwealth Energy Corp. v. Investor Data Exchange, Inc.* (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 26, 34 (*Commonwealth*).)

In *FilmOn*, DoubleVerify argued that its reports "concerned' or 'addressed' topics of widespread public interest: the presence of adult content on the internet, generally, and the presence of copyright-infringing content on FilmOn's websites, specifically." (*Id.* at 150.) However, "[E]ven if adult content on the Internet and FilmOn's particular streaming model are in fact issues of public interest, [this Court] agree[d] with the court in *Wilbanks* that 'it is not enough that the statement refer to a subject of widespread public interest; the statement must in some manner itself contribute to the public debate." (*Id.* at 150, citing *Wilbanks v. Wolk* (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 883, 898.)

The second prong of the test moves the focus from identifying relevant matters of public interest to addressing the specific nature of the defendants' speech and its relationship to the matters of public interest. (*Id.* at 152.) It is the job of the Court to examine whether a defendant – through public or private speech or conduct – participated in, or furthered, the discourse that makes an issue one of public interest. (*Id.* at 151, citing *All* 

One God Faith, Inc. v. Organic & Sustainable Industry Standards, Inc. (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1186, 1203-1204 and Cross v. Cooper (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 357, 375.)

DoubleVerify argued that "FilmOn is notorious for its long history of violating copyright laws" and that FilmOn's CEO routinely entered the public spotlight to discuss himself and FilmOn's business. (*Id.* at 152.) The Court acknowledged that DoubleVerify "identified the public issues or issues of public interest to which its reports and their 'tags' relate" and that "the various actions of a prominent CEO, or the issue of children's exposure to sexually explicit media content—in the abstract—seem to qualify as issues of public interest under [Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16](e)(4)." (*Id.*)

However, this Court determined that identifying FilmOn as falling into certain categories (i.e., adult content and copyright infringement) tells us nothing about how that identification relates to the issues of adult content and copyright. (*Id.* at 153.) That question can only be answered by looking at the broader context in which DoubleVerify issued its reports, discerning through that context whether the company's conduct qualifies for statutory protection by furthering the public conversation on an issue of public interest. (*Id.*) To that end, a court should examine "the identity of the speaker, the intended audience, and the purpose of the statement." (*Id.* at 147.)

This Court concluded that DoubleVerify did not issue its report in furtherance of free speech in connection with a public issue – instead, the report was a commercially prepared, confidentially shared document that was only distributed to DoubleVerify's clients solely for business purposes. (*Id.* at 153.)

While the *FilmOn* case was useful for devising the two steps needed for determining whether a defendant's activities were in furtherance of free

speech in connection with a public issue, the Court did not need to reckon with how to handle the first step (i.e., identifying the relevant public issue(s) via the content) since DoubleVerify's reports clearly identified the public issues -- adult content on the Internet and copyright infringement. Most cases will require more analysis at this step.

- B. The First Step Of The *FilmOn* Analysis Calls For An Objective, Neutral Test Rather Than Deference To Either Party.
  - 1. <u>California's Anti-SLAPP Statute, And The</u>

    <u>Decisions Interpreting It, Support A Neutral Test.</u>

Cases concerning Anti-SLAPP issues make it clear that it is relevant whether an issue is a matter of public interest, not what is the matter of public interest. "[A] matter of concern to the speaker and a relatively small, specific audience is not a matter of public interest." (Weinberg, supra, 110 Cal.App.4th at 1132; Thomas v. Quintero (2005) 126 Cal.App.4th 635, 658 (Thomas).) "[T]he fact that a broad and amorphous public interest can be connected to a specific dispute is not sufficient to meet the statutory requirements of the anti-SLAPP statute." (World Financial Group, Inc. v. HBW Ins. & Financial Services, Inc. (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1561, 1570 (WFG) [internal quotation marks omitted].)

"At a sufficiently high level of generalization, any conduct can appear rationally related to a broader issue of public importance." (*Rand Resources, LLC v. City of Carson* (2019) 6 Cal.5th 610, 625 (*Rand*) [speech concerning the issue of who should represent a city in negotiations with the National Football League to build a stadium there is not a matter of public interest, even though the building of the stadium in the city would be].) Such a "synecdoche theory" has been roundly rejected. (*Dual Diagnosis Treatment Center, Inc. v. Buschel* (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 1098, 1106 (*DDTC*) [allegations

of unethical practice by addiction clinic not a matter of public interest based on general interest in addiction treatment]; *Wilson v. Cable News Network, Inc.* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 871, 900-903 (*Wilson*) [California Supreme Court rejected argument that the discussion of a journalist's termination arising out of an accusation of plagiarism of an article about Sheriff Lee Baca's retirement implicated larger issue of journalistic ethics].)

As the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, noted in early 2020, "FilmOn did not announce any change in the approach that courts should take to identifying issues of public interest. On the contrary, the court said that the Courts of Appeal have 'ably distilled the characteristics of a 'public issue or an issue of public interest' for purposes of section 425.16, subdivision (e)(4)." (Serova v. Sony Music Entertainment (2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 103, 118 (Serova) [remarking on how "[I]n particular, this Court [in FilmOn] cited with approval the definition of an issue of public interest in [Rivero] and [Weinberg]"].)

In *Rivero*, the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District identified three common elements in statements that concerned an issue of public interest: (1) a person or entity "in the public eye"; (2) conduct that "could directly affect a large number of people beyond the direct participants"; or (3) a "topic of widespread, public interest." (*Rivero*, *supra*, 105 Cal.App.4th at p. 924.)

In *Weinberg*, the Court of Appeal, Third District expanded on *Rivero* and explained that public interest "does not equate with mere curiosity" and that a matter of public interest should be of concern to a substantial number of people rather than just to a "relatively small, specific audience." (*Weinberg*, *supra*, 110 Cal.App.4th at p. 1132.)

Similarly, a defendant's attempt to generate publicity for their dispute, and the *ex post facto* media attention a matter receives, do not create an issue of public interest, or otherwise convert the purely private dispute into one of public interest. (See *Abuemeira v. Stephens* (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 1291,

1294-1298 [defendant's effort to publicize dispute by sharing video of incident with reporters and creating online petition did not transform dispute into issue of public interest]; *Wilson*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th at 902; *Carver v. Bonds* (2005) 135 Cal.App.4th 328, 354 (*Carver*), citing *Hutchinson v. Proxmire* 443 (1979) 443 U.S. 111, 112-113 [a party cannot "create its own defense" under the Anti-SLAPP statute by taking actions that create a controversy]; *Rivero*, *supra*, 105 Cal.App.4th at 926 [explaining that if the mere publication of information was sufficient to turn a private issue into a public issue, "the public-issue limitation would be substantially eroded, thus seriously undercutting the obvious goal of the Legislature that the public-issue requirement have a limiting effect."].)

This Court and the Courts of Appeal have not, in their array of decisions, decided the issue of deference in favor of the moving party. To the contrary, the Courts have tread carefully on the issues of weight of evidence and deference. (See Soukup v. Law Offices of Herbert Hafif (2006) 39 Cal.4th 260, 269, fn. 3, quoting HMS Capital, Inc. v. Lawyers Title Co. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 204, 212 ["We neither 'weigh credibility [nor] compare the weight of the evidence. Rather, [we] accept as true the evidence favorable to the plaintiff [citation] and evaluate the defendant's evidence only to determine if it has defeated that submitted by the plaintiff as a matter of law.""]; see also Wilson, supra, 7 Cal.5th at 887 ["we have never insisted that the complaint's allegations be given similar credence in the face of contrary evidence at the first step. Such conclusive deference would be difficult to reconcile with the statutory admonition that courts must look beyond the pleadings to consider any party evidentiary submissions as well."] Tellingly, no courts have affirmatively ruled that any sort of deference was owed to the moving party at the first prong of the Anti-SLAPP analysis, which requires the defendant to make "a threshold showing that the challenged cause of action is one arising from protected activity." (Equilon Enterprises v. Consumer Cause, Inc. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 53, 67.)

The reasoning used in other cases to determine if Anti-SLAPP protections apply, to wit, respecting the distinction between the activities that form the basis of a claim and those that merely lead to the liability-creating activity or provide evidentiary support for the claim should be used to determine if Anti-SLAPP protections apply. The "focus [on] determining what 'the defendant's activity [is] that gives rise to his or her asserted liability – and whether that activity constitutes protected speech or petitioning." (*Park, supra,* 2 Cal.5th at 1063, quoting *Navellier v. Sletten* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 82, 89; see also *Gallimore v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Ins. Co.* (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 1388, 1399.) In short, the Court should consider the actions by the defendant that supplied the basis for the liability. (*Park, supra,* 2 Cal.5th at 1063.)

In *Park*, the plaintiff, a professor of Korean national origin, alleged he was denied tenure while other faculty of Caucasian origin received tenure. (*Park*, *supra*, 2 Cal. 5th at 1068.) While the complaint also alleged that derogatory comments were made about him and that he was denied relief in an internal grievance procedure, the crux of his case turned "only on the denial of tenure itself and whether the motive for that action was impermissible." (*Id.*) Tertiary evidence the defendant submitted, such as university comments that the plaintiff had omitted from his complaint, were ultimately not relevant. (*Id.*)

In *Rand*, plaintiff and his company were hired by the City of Carson to act as the City's agent to negotiate with the National Football League. (*Rand*, *supra*, 6 Cal.5th at 614.) The City Attorney made representations to plaintiffs about the status of their agreement while, at the same time, the Mayor and a third party engaged in a series of email discussions regarding the issue of building a stadium in Carson and how to "get around" the

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